INTRODUCTION 

This is a "regulatory taking" case based on denial of"all economically 

viable use" of a discrete legal parcel. The parcel owned by Kinderace, LLC, 

fronts on a major thoroughfare in the City of Sammamish, is zoned for 

commercial use, and is surrounded by existing development. Nevertheless, 

the City regulations require that the parcel be left entirely undeveloped and 

vacant. This is because in 2006, the City imposed more restrictive 

development regulations to protect environmentally critical areas-here, a 

stream, wetlands, and their designated buffers. Kinderace applied for a 

Reasonable Use Exception (RUE) to allow minimum commercial 

development, but that application was denied. The result is a regulatory 

taking of the parcel, because no economically viable use is allowed. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in entering the order of October 
22, 2014, affirming the decision of the Sammamish 
Hearing Examiner, dated January 31, 2014 (including 
the Hearing Examiner Conclusions of Law 1 - 10). 

2. The trial court erred in entering the order of March 24, 
2015, granting the City of Sammamish's Motion for 
Summary Judgment, thereby ruling that the City is not 
liable for a regulatory taking. 

3. The trial court erred in entering the order of March 24, 
2015, denying Kinderace's motion for partial 
summary judgment on its regulatory taking claim. 
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ISSUES PERTAINING TO 
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Where a boundary line adjustment establishes a single parcel as a 

discrete and separate legal lot, and that parcel is denied all economically 

viable use, can a regulatory taking be avoided on the basis that a prior 

configuration of the lot included additional land that was used to facilitate 

development of a separate adjoining lot? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Subject Property 

Kinderace owns fee simple title to a legal lot in the City of 

Sammamish, taxed as King County Tax Parcel No. 342506-9032, or simply 

Parcel 9032. Clerk's Papers (CP) 1, CP 2008 (Verification of Complaint). 

This parcel in its current configuration was created by a boundary line 

adjustment that was reviewed and approved by the City in 2008. CP 1787. 

The parcel is zoned for commercial uses. CP 2. Its total size is 

32,850 square feet, or approximately three-quarters of an acre. CP 2:7, CP 

1782. The parcel is undeveloped. CP 1784. 

The Kinderace Parcel 9032 fronts on the east side of 228th A venue, 

NE, which is the major north/south thoroughfare in the City of Sammamish. 

All of the surrounding parcels are developed. A Starbucks and a three-story 

bank building are located to the north on Parcel 9039 (at the comer of228th 
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A venue and 4th Street, NE). A child care center and a KFC/Taco Bell fast 

food restaurant is located adjacent to the east on Parcel 9058. On the south 

side, the City owns Parcel 9053 which is developed with a storm water 

detention pond. CP 1905 and 1907 (graphics showing surrounding 

development), 1782. 

A stream known as George Davis Creek flows through the Kinderace 

parcel along its northern boundary line. The stream flows westerly, and after 

exiting Parcel 9032 it flows through a culvert underneath 228th Avenue. CP 

1784, 1914. There is also a nearby wetland that has 215-foot buffers that 

encroach fully into the Kinderace parcel. CP 1784. Because of the creek and 

wetland buffers, the entire Parcel 9032 is designated as an environmentally 

critical area. CP 1785. 

There is no dispute that the entirety of Parcel 9032 is encumbered by 

critical areas and their buffers. The City code allows buffer reductions, but 

even assuming the maximum buffer reduction allowed under the code (50 

percent reduction), Parcel 9032 would still only have a total of 83 square feet 

of developable land. CP 1789. And even that minuscule area is just a sliver 

ofland on a portion of the south boundary. The City does not dispute that the 

83 square feet of developable land presents no opportunity for reasonable 

economic use of any sort. The undisputed testimony of Kinderace principal 
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Elliott Severson states: 

[E]ven with a 50 % reduction of the buffers, there would only 
be a sliver of land (about 30 feet long by five feet wide) 
outside the reduced buffers, and that sliver is clearly too small 
for any development. Thus, the City's buffer regulations 
preclude all development of the site. 

CP 3:15-18. 

B. The Application for a Reasonable Use Exception 

Because 83 square feet (not even the size of a small bedroom) is far 

too small for any development or economic use, Kinderace applied for a 

Reasonable Use Exception (RUE). Kinderace initially sought approval for 

an Ace Hardware store. That project had substantial community support and 

Kinderace expended $100,000 in pre-development costs. CP 4: 16-18. But 

the City resisted the Ace Hardware proposal, so Kinderace scaled back and 

instead proposed a Pagliacci Pizza Restaurant. CP 1780. 

The RUE application included a detailed economic analysis to show 

that the pizza restaurant represented the minimum financially feasible project. 

CP 1810 (citing AR 684-693). Being sensitive to environmental concerns, 

the site plan was designed to minimize environmental impacts by avoiding 

any disturbance to the on-site stream and wetland, and to maintain a 

minimum 25-foot undisturbed buffer from the stream. CP 1916. The total 

site disturbance would only be 36 percent. CP 1916, 1917. In addition, the 
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City's environmental expert indicated that any buffer impacts could be 

mitigated. The City's environmental expert explained: 

There are a variety of approaches that could be taken that 
could constitute compensatory mitigation for the proposed 
impacts. 

CP 895. The City's expert report went on to discuss various mitigation 

options. Id. 

The RUE is authorized under Sammamish Municipal Code (SMC) 

21A.50.070(2). The provision allows alterations to critical areas and buffers 

to allow a reasonable use if application of the restrictions would otherwise 

deny all reasonable use of the property. 

The term "reasonable use" is defined in the City code as "a legal 

concept articulated by federal and state courts in regulatory taking cases." 

SMC 21A.15.950 (emphasis added). As a legal concept, this case turns on 

the interpretation of federal and state regulatory takings law. 

C. The Basis for the City's Denial of the RUE 

Prior to the 2008 boundary line adjustment, the predecessor version 

of Parcel 9032 was larger and included additional land on the north side of 

George Davis Creek. That additional land was approximately 17 ,000 square 

feet of area and was positioned adjacent to Parcel 9058. CP 1905, 1907. 

In 2003, Parcel 9058 was being analyzed by SR Development, LLC, 
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for development of a child care facility and KFC/Taco Bell fast food 

restaurant. However, it was determined that in order to construct two 

commercial buildings on that parcel, additional area would be needed for a 

required storm water detention pond. CP 1786. 

One of the principal owners of SR Development was Elliott Severson, 

who is also a principal owner of Kinderace. In 2003, Severson acquired an 

option to purchase Parcel 9032. Rather than place the needed stormwater 

pond on Parcel 9058, he proposed to locate the detention pond on Parcel 

9032 in the area north of George Davis Creek. CP 1786. His intention 

always was to reserve the area south of the creek for future development. 

From the time we made the decision to buy Parcel 9032, our 
plan was to use the portion north of George Davis Creek with 
the development on 9058 and reserve the property south of 
George Davis Creek for future development. Kenyon [the 
seller] did not ascribe much value to the land north of George 
Davis Creek in their asking price due to its small size, odd 
shape and difficult access to 228th. Although we did not have 
a specific proposal for developing the land south of George 
Davis Creek we were comfortable undertaking it as a long 
term investment given that placing the detention pond for 
9058 would fit north of George Davis Creek and not reduce 
at all what we considered to be the useable area and what 
Kenyon valued as the useable area of Parcel 9032 namely the 
area south of George Davis Creek. 

CP 2153, ~ 16 (Declaration of Elliott Severson). 

In 2004, the City approved the KFC/Taco Bell and child care facility 

application. Severson completed the purchase of parcel 9032, and the project 
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moved forward. Both commercial buildings were completed and the storm 

water detention pond was constructed on that portion of Parcel 9032 north of 

the creek. CP 1787. 

Severson testified that a boundary line adjustment to transfer the area 

north of the creek into Parcel 9058 was part of the plan from the beginning. 

The boundary line adjustment would connect the storm water pond with the 

project it served. 

The intention the entire time was that the detention pond 
would go with Parcel 9058 since it was the commercial 
development on Parcel 9058 that was actually using the pond. 
However, the city had not added any condition to effectuate 
this result, and we neglected to process a boundary line 
adjustment. But, we also did not grant Plateau Associates an 
easement because our intention was to deed them the portion 
of the land north of the Creek where the pond was located. 
We also received no rent from Plateau Associates for using 
Parcel 9032 because again the intention was to transfer the 
pond to 9058 for no consideration. 

CP 2155, lines 7 - 14 (Deel. of Severson). 

Eventually, in 2008, Severson did file the application for a boundary 

line adjustment between Parcels 9032 and 9058. CP 1787. That application 

was approved on December 17, 2008, and recorded on January 21, 2009. Id. 

A warranty deed transferring the portion of 9032 to the owner of 9058 was 

also recorded on January 21, 2009. Id. 
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Given this background, the City determined that the detention pond 

north of the creek on the former Parcel 9032 (pre-BLA) provided reasonable 

use sufficient to deny the RUE application. Similarly, the trial court ruled 

that use of the area north of the creek for a detention pond was a joint 

development with Parcel 9058 and therefore was sufficient use to avoid a 

regulatory taking despite denial of all economically viable use of the present 

Parcel 9032. CP 2398. 

The procural history is straightforward. After denial of the RUE by 

the Hearing Examiner, Kinderace sought judicial review under the Land Use 

Petition Act. Kinderace also filed a Complaint for a regulatory taking which 

was consolidated with the LUP A action. On cross motions for summary 

judgment, the trial court affirmed the denial of the RUE, and ruled there was 

no regulatory taking of the present Parcel 9032. This appeal followed. 

ARGUMENT 

I 

PARCEL 9032 HAS BEEN DENIED ALL 
ECONOMICALLY VIABLE USE AND 

THEREFORE A REGULATORY TAKING 
HAS OCCURRED 

A. Standard of Review 

Kinderace's regulatory takings claim was denied on summary 

judgment granted to the City. On appeal of summary judgment, the standard 
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of review is de nova, and the court performs the same inquiry as the trial 

court. Silverhawk, LLC v. Key Bank Nat 'I Ass 'n, 165 Wn. App. 258, 264, 268 

P.3d 958 (2011). 

B. A Regulatory Taking Is Categorically Established 
Where Government Denies All Economically Viable 
Use of the Subject Property 

It is well established by the United States Supreme Court and 

Washington courts that a taking categorically occurs where there has been a 

denial of all economically viable use of the property. The leading case is 

Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003, 112 S. Ct. 2886, 

120 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1992), which held: 

The second situation in which we have found categorical 
treatment appropriate is where regulation denies all 
economically beneficial or productive use of land. 

Id. at 1015. The Court continued: 

We think, in short, that there are good reasons for our 
frequently expressed belief that when the owner of real 
property has been called upon to sacrifice all economically 
beneficial uses in the name of the common good, that is, to 
leave his property economically idle, he has suffered a taking. 

Id. at 1019. 

Washington follows the Lucas rule, as clearly stated by Division I of 

the Court of Appeals shortly after Lucas was decided: 

In our view, Lucas mandates compensation for a taking 
whenever land use restrictions deny a landowner of all 

- 9 -



economically viable use of his property, unless the restriction 
is one that background principles of this State's law of 
property and nuisance already place upon ownership. 

Powers v. Skagit County, 67 Wn. App. 180, 190, 835 P.2d 230 (1992). 

The next year, the Washington Supreme Court incorporated the Lucas 

rule into state takings law. Guimont v. Clarke, 121 Wn.2d 586, 600, 854 

P .2d 1 ( 1993) ("in light of Lucas" a plaintiff proves a "categorical" taking if 

the regulations deny "all economically beneficial use of the property"). See 

also Sparks v. Douglas County, 127 Wn.2d 901, 908, 904 P.2d 738 (1995) 

(taking occurs where regulations "deprive the owner of economically viable 

use of the owner's land"); City of Des Moines v. Gray Businesses, LLC, 130 

Wn. App. 600, 612 n.28, 124 P.3d 324 (2005) (taking occurs where a 

regulation denies a landowner" 'all economically beneficial or productive 

use ofland' ")(quoting Guimont, 121 Wn. 2d at 598). 

If this test is applied to the present configuration of parcel 903 2, there 

should be no doubt that a categorical taking has occurred. As stated by the 

Hearing Examiner, the parties at least agree that 

Even ifthe proposal qualified for the maximum buffer width 
reductions allowed under current regulations, the developable 
area of Post-BLA Parcel 9032 would be 83 SF or less. 

CP 1789. Such a small area cannot support any economically viable use, and 

the City does not contend otherwise. 
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C. The Relevant Parcel for Takings Analysis Purposes Is 
the Present Parcel 9032 

1. The Approval of the Boundary Line Adjustment 
Created a Discrete and Separate New Legal Lot 
That Was Not Part of Any Joint Development 

The authority for a boundary line adjustment is RCW 58.17.040(6). 

A boundary line adjustment is actually a replatting or redivision oflot lines, 

but it is accomplished without going through the formal subdivision process. 

For this reason, a boundary line adjustment is considered an "exemption" to 

the formal and complex requirements of the Subdivision Map Act, RCW Ch. 

58.17. Under the state law, the exemption to allow adjustment of boundary 

lines must not create any lot which "contains insufficient area and dimension 

to meet minimum requirements for width and area for a building site." RCW 

58.17.040(6). 

Under Washington law, the approval of a BLA creates a new legal 

lot. In City of Seattle v. Crispin, 149 Wn.2d 896, 71 P.3d 208 (2003), the 

property owner asserted that a boundary line adjustment results in legal lots: 

Crispin asserts that, because tax lot 164 was a division made 
for the purpose of alteration by adjusting boundary lines and 
did not create additional lots, it is exempt from the 
requirements of chapter 58.17 RCW governing land division, 
which the City's ordinance mirrors, and is, thus, a legal lot. 
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Id. at 902 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court agreed: "Tax lot 164 is a 

legally created lot with the statutory exemption under RCW 58.17.040(6)." 

Id. at 905 (emphasis added). 

Crispin applies here. Because the current Parcel 9032 was created 

through an approved BLA, it is a legal lot. 

Significantly, while a portion of the old Parcel 9032 may have been 

used for joint development with Parcel 9058 (the area north of the creek), 

there is no portion of the new Parcel 9032 that was ever used to jointly 

develop Parcel 9058. Not one square foot of the new Parcel 9032 was used 

in conjunction with the development of Parcel 9058. Accordingly, the trial 

court erred in ruling that the current Parcel 9032 was used in a joint 

development with Parcel 9058. Indeed, such a conclusion is an impossibility 

because the new Parcel 9032 (which is limited to the area south of the creek) 

did not even exist as a legal parcel in 2004 when Parcel 9058 was developed. 

The trial court's conclusion that the current Parcel 9032 was used as a joint 

development should be reversed as a matter oflaw. 

2. Kinderace Has a Fundamental Right to 
Economically Beneficial Use of New Parcel 9032 

As a legal lot, current Parcel 9032 carries all the fundamental 

attributes of property ownership. In addition to the right to possess, the right 

to exclude others, and the right to dispose of property, another fundamental 
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attribute of ownership is the right to make some economically beneficial use. 

In light of Lucas, another "fundamental attribute" of property 
appears to be the right to make some economically viable use 
of the property. 

Guimont, 121 Wn.2d at 602 (italics by the Court). In short, the approval of 

the BLA created a new legal lot that carries with it the right to some 

economically viable use. By denial of the reasonable use exception, that 

fundamental right has been extinguished and the result is a taking. 

3. The City Is Precluded from Attacking the Finality 
of the Approved BLA 

If the City had any legitimate grounds to declare that the reconfigured 

Parcel 9032 was not a legal lot with normal rights of use and development, 

then the BLA should not have been approved. For example, if the City 

believed that the old Parcel 9032 was included as a joint development with 

Parcel 9058, that may have been a legitimate reason to deny the BLA. But 

the City did not deny the BLA. 

Nor does the City argue that the BLA was improperly approved. Of 

course, it is far too late to make that argument. The Washington Supreme 

Court has made it clear that BLA decisions are land use decisions that are 

entitled to finality unless timely challenged under LUP A. Chelan County v. 

Nykreim, 146 Wn.2d 904, 926, 52 P .3d 1 (2002). 
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Under Wenatchee Sportsmen Association, approval of the 
BLA in this case, despite its questionable legality, "became 
valid once the opportunity to challenge it passed." 

Id., at 925-26 (quoting Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass 'n v. Chelan County, 141 

Wn.2d 169, 181, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)). Of course, even though the BLA in 

Nykreim was of "questionable legality," that concern did not override the 

strong policy of finality in land use decisions. In contrast, there is no 

assertion by the City that Kinderace' s BLA was of questionable legality. Nor 

would it matter if it did. The Washington Supreme Court in Nykreim 

underscored the "strong public policy supporting administrative finality in 

land use decisions" (Nykreim, 146 Wn.2d at 931) and that "land use decisions 

from this court emphasize the need for property owners to rely on an agency's 

determinations with reasonable certainty." Id. at 933. 

This policy of finality is directly undermined by the trial court 

decision. The City approved the BLA in 2008, creating a newly configured 

and legal Parcel 9032. Subsequent to that approval, Severson expended 

$100,000 seeking approval of the Ace Hardware proposal, and then 

additional money and time pursuing the Pagliacci Pizza Restaurant. The 

application submitted by Kinderace seeking a reasonable use exception, and 

thereby seeking to exercise the fundamental right of some economically 

viable use, necessarily relied on the certainty that Parcel 9032 was a legal lot, 
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and with the normal rights associated with a legal lot. As a legal lot, 

Washington recognizes a fundamental right to make "some economically 

viable use of the property." Guimont,121 Wn.2d at 602 (italics by the Court). 

By taking away that right, the trial court undermines the certainty that should 

be associated with an approved legal lot. 

4. The Decision Below Is Directly Contrary to 
Presbytery of Seattle v. King County 

In Presbytery of Seattle v. King County, 114 Wn.2d 320, 787 P .2d 907 

(1990), the Court stated the law clearly: 

[I]f the landowner succeeds in showing that a regulation 
denies all economically viable use of any parcel of regulated 
property, then a constitutional taking has occurred. 

Id. at 335 (emphasis added). That is precisely what Kinderace has shown. 

The regulated parcel is 9032, as it currently exists. That entire parcel has 

been taken by denial of all economically viable use of that regulated parcel. 

Moreover, Parcel 9032 as it currently exists was not part of any joint 

development with Parcel 9058. The Court should find a taking of 

Parcel 9032. 

REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS FEES 

Pursuant to RAP 18.1, andRCW 8.25.075, Kinderaceherebyrequests 

attorneys fees and expenses. See Sintra v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 

668, 935 P.2d 555 (1997). 
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CONCLUSION 

The current configuration of Parcel 9032 is a legally formed and 

recognized lot. It is undisputed that there is not, nor has there ever been, any 

development or economic use allowed within the metes and bounds of 

current Parcel 9032. Moreover, while a portion of the old Parcel 9032 was

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