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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review on Appeal. 

Appellant is seeking review of three decisions by the trial court, 

which on appeal are subject to distinct standards of review. 
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1. Dismissal of Appellant's LUPA petition on the merits. 

Kinderace assigns error to the October 22, 2014 order dismissing on 

the merits Kinderace' s LUPA petition. Appellant's Brief at 1. Kinderace, 

however, provides no argument or analysis regarding this claimed error. 

The text ofKinderace's brief focuses solely on its regulatory takings claim 

and, as Kinderace argued below, "the regulatory Takings Claim is 

independent of [Kinderace's] Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) claim." CP 

2100. 

Kinderace has effectively abandoned its first assignment of error 

relating to the dismissal of its LUP A petition on the merits. A party 

abandons an issue by failing to pursue it on appeal by failing to brief the 

issue. State v. Wood, 89 Wn.2d 97, 99, 569 P.2d 1148 (1977); Talps v. 

Arreola, 83 Wn.2d 655,657,521 P.2d 206 (1974) (appellant had abandoned 

a claim on appeal when she failed to include argument or cites to authority 

on the issue in her briefs). Likewise, a party may not revive an issue on 

appeal omitted from its opening brief by raising it for the first time on reply. 

Sacco v. Sacco, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990)(citing RAP 10.3(c)). 

Accordingly, this Court should not consider Kinderace's first assignment of 

error. 
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2. Grant of summary judgment to City and denial of summary 
judgment to Kinderace. 

Kinderace additionally assigns error to the trial court's dismissal of 

its constitutional takings claim on the City's motion for summary judgment, 

and the trial court's related denial of Kinderace's cross-motion for partial 

summary judgment. Appellant's Brief at 1. Appellate review of a decision 

to grant summary judgment is de novo. Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 

658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). An appellate court engages in the same 

inquiry as the trial court, which is to determine whether "the pleadings, 

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together 

with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any 

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 

oflaw." Greater Harbor 2000 v. City of Seattle, 132 Wn.2d 267, 278, 937 

P.2d 1082 (1997) (quoting CR 56(c)). A material fact is one on which the 

outcome of the case depends. Atherton Condo. Ass'n. v. Blume Dev. Co., 

115 Wn.2d 506,516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). 

B. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Kinderace's Takings 
Claim. 

The trial court dismissed Kinderace's regulatory takings claim on 

the basis that the City's ECA Regulations did not deny "all economically 

viable use" of Parcel 9032 because "Kinderace achieved reasonable 

beneficial use of Parcel 9032 as part of the joint development with Parcel 
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9058 for the Plateau Professional Center project." CP 2398. 

1. No taking occurred where Severson has put Parcel 9032 to 
full beneficial economic use prior to the adoption of the ECA 
Regulations. 

A threshold inquiry in a regulatory takings claim is whether a city's 

decision denies a landowner a fundamental attribute of property ownership, 

such as the right to possess, exclude others, dispose of, or to make some 

economically viable use of the property. Kahuna Land Co. v. Spokane 

County, 94 Wn. App. 836, 841, 974 P.2d 1249 (1999); Guimont v. Clarke, 

121 Wn.2d 586, 601-02, 854 P.2d 1 (1993); Lucas v. S.C. Coastal Conn., 

505 U.S. 1003, 112 S. Ct. 2886, 120 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1992) (establishing that 

total deprivation of economic value is a taking). 

The landowner has the burden on this issue (Kahuna, 94 Wn. App. 

at 841 ), and must further demonstrate that the mere enactment of a 

regulation constitutes a taking. Guimont, 121 Wn.2d at 605 (citing 

Keystone Bituminous Coal Ass'n v. DeBenedictis, 480 U.S. 470, 493, 107 

S.Ct. 1232, 1246,94 L.Ed.2d 472 (1987) (emphasis added). 

A property owner has no constitutional right to a second use ofland, 

and a regulation that impacts a property's highest and best use is not a 

taking. Ventures Nw. Ltd. P'ship v. State, 81 Wn. App. 353, 366, 914 P.2d 

1180 (1996) (citing Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 

365, 384, 47 S.Ct. 114, 117, 71 L.Ed. 303 (1926)); see also Deltona Corp. 
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v. U.S., 657 F.2d 1184, 1193 (Fed. Cir. 1981). 

Kinderace argues that a taking of Parcel 9032 occurred "[i]n 2006, 

[when] the City imposed more restrictive development regulations to 

protect environmentally critical areas -here, a stream, wetlands, and their 

designated buffers." CP 1801. 

The Superior Court properly determined that Kinderace's takings 

claim fails for many reasons, chief among them that at the time the ECA 

Regulations were adopted, Parcel 9032 had already been fully developed­

by Severson's own choice- as part of the Plateau Professional Center. CP 

2398. The adoption of the ECA Regulations did not prohibit all use of 

Parcel 9032; the entire metes and bounds of Parcel 9032 had already been 

used for the Plateau Professional Center development, as evidenced on the 

permit applications and testimony of the parties. CP 1572-1573; CP 1448; 

CP 1505-1506. 

Moreover, the facts establish that economic use of Parcel 9032 was 

significant. In 2006, after completing the Plateau Professional Center Phase 

2, Parcel 9058 sold for $3,815,000. CP 524-525. The intensity of 

development and substantial sale price were only possible because of the 

use of Parcel 9032 for the storm drainage pond to support the commercial 

development on Parcel 9058. CP 1572-1573; CP 1448; CP 1505-1506. 

18 



Severson testified that Parcel 9058 would have been a loss without 

the acquisition and development ofParcel 9032. CP 1448; CP 1505-1506. 

Kinderace cannot now persuasively argue that the economic return 

Severson received from the development of Parcel 9032 was somehow less 

than economically viable or reasonable, and such an argument does not 

form a valid basis for a takings claim. 

Kinderace disputes that the prior use of Parcel 9032 matters, and 

argues instead that the Court should view "the present configuration of 

parcel 9032" in a vacuum. Appellant's Brief at 10. Kinderace relies on 

Lucas, supra, 505 U.S. 1003 (1992), to argue that a taking occurs when a 

current reasonable use cannot be achieved. However, Lucas is easily 

distinguished. Unlike here, Lucas did not involve any prior development of 

the subject property- a distinction noted by the Superior Court in its order 

dismissing Kinderace's takings claim. CP 2398.5 

Similarly, none of the other cases cited by Kinderace support its 

takings argument, as none involve prior development of the subject 

property. See Powers v. Skagit County, 67 Wn. App. 180, 183, 835 P.2d 

230 (1992) (owner of property designated as residential plat sought building 

permit; holding question of fact existed, precluding summary judgment for 

5 "The court further finds that case law cited by Plaintiff is all factually distinguishable and 
does not address the legal issues at hand ... Lucas v. South Carolina Costal Council, 505 
U.S. 108 (1992) did not address joint development of parcels." 
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County, as to whether taking occurred where permit denied after property 

placed within floodway by new Federal Emergency Management Agency 

floodway designations adopted by County during pendency of permit 

application); Guimont, supra, 121 Wn.2d at 600 (holding no taking 

occurred in suit brought by group of mobile park owners challenging 

Mobile Home Relocation Assistance Act, which required owners to pay 

relocation assistance to park's tenants if owner wants to close park or 

convert property to another use); Sparks v. Douglas County, 127 Wn.2d 

901, 908, 904 P.2d 738 (1995) (property owners claimed required 

dedications for short plat applications were unconstitutional takings of 

property; holding documented deficiencies in right-of-way width and road 

surfacing were sufficient to show the necessary relationship between 

subdivision impacts and a dedication requirement such that no taking 

occurred); City ofDes Moines v. Gray Businesses, LLC, 130 Wn. App. 600, 

614, 124 P.3d 324 (2005) (holding no taking where City limited 

landowners' right to lease property for mobile home use, where right to 

operate as nonconforming mobile home park is not fundamental attribute of 

ownership); Presbytery of Seattle v. King County, 114 Wn.2d 320,787 P.2d 

907 (1990) (takings claim arising from proposed construction of church on 

property partially encumbered by wetland and bog dismissed because 

plaintiff failed to exhaust administrative remedies before filing suit). All 
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are distinguished on that basis. 

Here, Severson obtained a full and profitable prior use of the entirety 

of Parcel 9032 as part of Plateau Professional Center, Phase 2. Both the 

Hearing Examiner and the Superior Court correctly determined that, as a 

matter oflaw, when Severson carved off a portion of Parcel 9032 by means 

of a BLA, he did not erase the property's history of prior use. CP 1793-

1794; CP 1448. 

2. The BLA does not erase the development history of Parcel 
9032, nor in any manner impact the applicability of the 
adopted ECA Regulations. 

Kinderace next asks the Court to find that the 2013 BLA - by 

which Severson carved off the detention pond on the northern portion of 

Parcel 9032, collapsing the boundaries of Parcel 9032 so that the entire 

parcel was constrained by the stream, wetland area and associated buffers 

- created a new legal lot, and that a taking occurred because that new lot 

is not "developable" due to the 2006 ECA Regulations. Appellant's Brief 

at 11-12. This argument is not supported by either fact or law. 

The approval of a BLA does not create a new legal lot. RCW 

58.17.040(6) plainly states that a BLA may not be used to create new lots, 

but rather is a tool used to adjust the boundaries of existing lots. In this 

light, Kinderace missed that mark when it argues that "the trial court erred 

in ruling the current Parcel 9032 was used in joint development with Parcel 
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9058 ... because Parcel 9032 did not exist as a legal parcel in 2004 when 

Parcel 9058 was developed." Appellant's Brief at 12. 

Kinderace relies only on City of Seattle v. Crispin, 149 Wn.2d 896, 

71 P.3d 208 (2003), to support its argument that a BLA creates a new legal 

lot, with a new bundle of property rights. Kinderace' s strained reading of 

Crispin is simply wrong (as the Superior Court also noted). 6 In Crispin, the 

sole issue before the Court was whether the reconfiguration of a boundary 

line which resulted in a building site that did not previously exist violated 

the state's subdivision code. Id. at 901-904. The Crispin court did not 

determine that any boundary line adjustment automatically creates a new, 

buildable lot. Rather, the Crispin court examined "the specific statutory 

language which states as long as there are no 'new' lots created, the 

reconfiguration is exempt [from the state's subdivision code]." Id. at 904. 

Kinderace's attempts to parse selectively from Crispin should be 

rejected. For example, while Kinderace asserts that Crispin determined that 

a BLA always results in a "buildable site"- and therefore, the BLA in this 

case automatically created a buildable site that the ECA Regulations 

rendered unusable- the Crispin court actually held that the mere "fact that 

6 CP 2398: "The court further finds that caselaw cited by Plaintiff is all factually 
distinguishable and does not address the legal issues at hand. E.G. [sic] in City of Seattle 
v. Crispin, 149 Wn.2d 896 (2003), the issue was whether a reconfiguration of a boundary 
line which resulted in a building site that did not previously exist violated the state 
subdivision code, RCW 58.17 and comparable ordinance. The issue was not whether ill!Y 
boundary line adjustment automatically created a buildable lot." 
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a buildable site was created [in this case] does not prevent application ofthe 

boundary line adjustment exemption found at RCW 58.17.040(6)." Id. at 

906. In this case, Severson's 2008 BLA did not create a "buildable site" on 

the southern portion of Parcel 9032 where none previously existed. The 

Crispin decision does not support Kinderace's theory that approval of a 

BLA somehow erased the economically viable development history of 

Parcel 9032 so as to require the City to permit Kinderace a second 

economically viable use of the same site. 

3. A BLA does not create development rights in a reconfigured 
parcel, as a matter oflaw. 

Kinderace next argues that the City's approval of the BLA 

necessarily transformed the southern portion of Parcel 9032 into a new lot 

with new development rights, since state law forbids a boundary line 

adjustment that results in an "unbuildable" lot. Appellant's Brief at 12-13. 

For these purposes, Kinderace posits that an "unbuildable lot" is a lot that 

"contains insufficient area and dimension to meet minimum requirements 

for width and area for a building site." RCW 58.17.040(6). 

As a preliminary matter, the BLA was a unilateral action by 

Severson and his business partners. The City could not initiate a BLA, nor 

could it deny the BLA as long as Severson met the checklist of minimal 

requirements in the City's municipal code. The City received a valid BLA 
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application, and accordingly had no legal choice but to grant it. See R/L 

Associates, Inc. v. Klockars, 52 Wn. App. 726,733,763 P.2d 1244 (1988); 

see also Cox v. City of Lynnwood, 72 Wn. App. 1, 863 P.2d 578 (1993) 

(holding city acted improperly when it looked beyond the BLA provisions 

of its code to deny BLA; property owners were entitled to damages arising 

from denial of application). A city is not permitted to look beyond the 

limited scope of review defined in code and state law. I d. The motives for 

making a BLA are numerous and not part of a city's review. CP 1615-

1616.7 

The BLA approval means only that Severson's application satisfied 

the requirements of City Code for the approval of a BLA. See SMC Chapter 

19A.24. It does not guarantee any right to develop the newly configured lot 

under other portions of City Code. Id. In order to qualify for a BLA in 

Sammamish, an applicant must prove that the adjustment will not "[r]esult 

in a lot that does not qualify as a building site pursuant to this title." SMC 

19A.24.020(4)(b). The Sammamish Municipal Code specifically defines a 

"[b ]uilding site" as "an area of land, consisting of one or more lots or 

portions of lots, that is: 

(1) Capable of being developed under current 
federal, state, and local statutes, including 
zoning and use provisions, dimensional 

7 Severson obtained the benefit of lowering the assessed value and associated property tax 
burden on 9032. CP 744; CP 746; CP 606. 
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standards, mtmmum lot width, shoreline 
master program provisions, critical area 
provisions and health and safety provisions; 
or 

(2) Currently legally developed. 

SMC 19A.04.060 (emphasis added).8 

Pursuant to the City's Code (and the appellate authority cited 

above), the City was required to approve the BLA here because Severson 

showed that the adjustment would not "[r]esult in a lot that does not qualify 

as a building site pursuant to this title." SMC 19A.24.020(4)(b). Further, 

Parcel 9032 was "[ c ]urrently legally developed" at the time of the BLA 

application, having been jointly developed as part of the financially 

successful Plateau Professional Center. SMC 19A.04.060(2); CP 1448; CP 

1505-1506. Moreover, the proposed reconfigured boundaries of Parcel 

9032 would result in an "area of land, consisting of one or more lots or 

portions of lots" that is "currently legally developed," because Parcel 9032 

and Parcel 9058 are "currently legally developed." SMC 19A.04.060 

(emphasis added); CP 1448; CP 1505-1506. Under the City's BLA 

provisions in its Code, Severson did not need to prove that reconfigured 

8 Kinderace asserts, without citation to supporting legal authority, that a "building site" 
under RCW 58.17.040(6) somehow equates to a developable legal lot. This is incorrect. 
"Chapter 58.17 RCW does not contain a definition of "building site."' Mason v. King 
Cntv., 134 Wn. App. 806, 811, 142 P.3d 637 (2006). "[L]ocal governments are free to 
define the dimensions of a "building site" so long as that definition is consistent with 
applicable local zoning requirements." Id. at 812. 
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Parcel 9032 was capable ofbeing developed in order to obtain a BLA. SMC 

Chapter 19A.24. Rather, the corollary is true: the City's approval of the 

BLA did not somehow transform reconfigured Parcel 9032 into an area that 

was capable of being developed. 

Kinderace again misses the mark in arguing, "[I]f the City believed 

that the old Parcel 9032 was included as a joint development with Parcel 

9058, that may have been a legitimate reason to deny the BLA." 

Appellant's Brief at 12. By approving the BLA as Severson himself applied 

for it, the City merely confirmed that Severson met the Code's BLA 

requirements, and the Code does not guarantee (or even address) that an 

approved BLA results in a developable piece of property. Rather, Under 

R/L Associates and Cox, supra, the City would have faced Severson's

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